This page is left intentionally blank

The Self-Government of the Mexican Armed Forces: The

Political Rise of the Mexican Army During the War on Drugs

(2006-2023)

By: Víctor Antonio Hernández Ojeda



King's College London Department of War Studies MA in Intelligence and International Security Supervisor: Dr. Eleonora Natale *This page is left intentionally blank*

This page is left intentionally blank

The Self-Government of the Mexican Armed Forces: The Political Rise of the Mexican Army During the War on Drugs (2006-2023)

Abstract: The following dissertation aims to document the political and economic power acquired by the Mexican Armed Forces during the ongoing war on drugs, that have allowed them to become one of the country's central political actors.

This dissertation assesses the present state of affairs of civil-military relations in Mexico and argues that, given the power amassed by the armed forces and the lack of efficient civilian oversight mechanisms to hold them accountable, the Mexican Armed Forces are currently in a de facto state of self-government, and are borderline independent from civilian authority and impregnable to public scrutiny.

Key words: National Guard, Mexican Army, War on Drugs, civil military relations, Mexican Revolution.

Contents

Introduction	7
Chapter I. Blood and Fratricide: A Brief History of Civil-Military Relations	
(XIX-XX centuries)	
Chapter II: The Pact of 1946 and its Institutions	
The promise of no further military involvement in politics	
No civilian secretaries of the Navy and Defence	
Lack of legislative oversight	
Lack of transparency	
Lack of executive oversight	39
Chapter 3: From the militarization of law enforcement to the militarizatio	n of public
life	
Conclusions	63
Bibliography	67

Introduction

On December 11 2006, only a few days after being sworn into office, President Felipe Calderón Hinojosa ordered the deployment of thousands of troops into its native province of Michoacán to fight the drug cartels established in the area. The operation was called the 'Michoacán Joint Operation' (Operativo Conjunto Michoacán), and it is considered the inauguration of the so-called War on Drugs in Mexico, an ongoing conflict that has claimed the lives of more than 400,000 people that have been murdered between 2007 and 2023. Over the same period, more than 100,000 people have been reported missing in the country (Hope and López 2015; INEGI 2023a; Comisión Nacional de Búsqueda 2023).

The taxonomy of the war on drugs is a highly contested subject. Multiple scholars, governmental bureaucracies, and political figures (both domestic and foreign) have attempted to characterize the 'war' either as a non-international armed conflict, a criminal insurgency, a narcoterrorism crisis, or as an ordinary counternarcotics law enforcement operation (Barr 2023; Crenshaw and Waltz 2023; Crenshaw 2023; Teiner 2022; Campbell and Hansen 2014; Padin 2022; Rojo Fierro 2020; Pacheco 2009).

Although the Mexican Army has been involved in counternarcotics operations since the XX century, being the most famous one the Condor Operation in which the

7

Mexican Army cooperated with the DEA in the 70's to destroy marihuana and poppy fields in the province of Sinaloa, the beginning of the so-called war on drugs in 2006 represented a broadening of the law enforcement operations conducted by the armed forces in the name of the fight against cartels (Pérez Ricart 2022; 2021; Hope and López 2015; Rath 2013; Liewen 1968).

While the army served as the main enforcer of the post-revolutionary dictatorship under the Institutional Revolutionary Party (Partido Revolucionario Institucional, PRI), which ruled the country with an iron fist over 7 decades, gradually more civilian intelligence services and police departments took over the ordinary law enforcement operations. Although it should be noted that even in the decades that led to the final electoral defeat of the PRI in the year 2000, the army never fully left conducting some counternarcotics operations.

From 2006 onwards, the armed forces began substituting municipal and state police departments to conduct all sorts of policing operations (not only counternarcotics): raids, search warrants, checkpoints, operations that legally can only be conducted by civilian police officers with the prior authorization of a prosecutor (Ministerio Público/Fiscalía). This broadening of their policing powers, although illegal, happened at the express request of the last three Mexican presidents, Felipe Calderón (2006-2012), Enrique Peña Nieto (2012-2018) and López Obrador (2018-2024), and multiple state governors and town mayors that asked for the presence of soldiers in their localities.

In 2019, a constitutional amendment proposed by President Lopez Obrador and its ruling party (MORENA) officially disappeared the civilian Federal Police and gave the Mexican Army the exclusive role of acting as the single national police under the disguise of a new police department called the National Guard. After 2019 there is no civilian federal law enforcement agency in Mexico. Only municipal, state, and penitentiary civilian police departments remain in existence so far in Mexico, yet their future is uncertain (2019 National Guard Constitutional Reform; 2022 Reform to the Army and Air Force Organic Law; 2022 Reform to the Fifth Transitory Article to the National Guard Reform; 2020 Agreement of the Military Police, Federal Police and Navy Police; *López Dóriga digital* 2020).

Furthermore, under the administration of President Lopez Obrador the Mexican Army has stratospherically increased its budget and has been tasked with duties like the construction of public infrastructure (such as the new Mexico City Airport AIFA, the Mayan Peninsula Train, the Dos Bocas oil refinery, the Welfare Bank branches, among other projects), the management of all ports and customs inspections on imported goods, the monitoring of cybersecurity threats, among many others (Velázquez et al. 2021; SEMAR 2022; López Casarín 2023).

The following dissertation aims to document the evolution of the militarization of law enforcement in Mexico and its impact on civil-military relations.

The first chapter will briefly summarize the history of civil-military relations from the country's independence from Spain in 1821 to the 1946 transition from military to civilian power. The second chapter will analyse the 1946 pact celebrated between soldiers and civilians to ensure a peaceful transition of power, and how such agreements still configure much of the civil-military relations in the XXI century. The third chapter will focus on the new tasks and legal powers granted to the armed forces during the ongoing War on Drugs (2006-2023), particularly focusing on the current administration of President Andrés Manuel López Obrador, which I will argue, is the climax not only of the militarization of law enforcement in Mexico, but of the political life of the country.

This dissertation will rely on diplomatic cables, declassified documents, statistics produced by governmental and non-governmental organizations in Mexico, and leaked documents from 'Guacamaya Leaks' (a major leak of over 7 terabytes of emails from the Mexican Ministry of Defense SEDENA that was revealed in 2022). Given the sensitivity of the documents, and in order not to compromise the national security of my home country, I will limit myself only to quoting the leaked documents that have been already presented in the national and foreign press, although much more could be said from thousands of documents that up to this day remain unknown to the public.

Chapters two and three will also heavily rely on investigative journalism articles published in domestic and foreign newspapers, since the war on drugs is an ongoing affair and much of its history is yet to be told. I beg the reader to take these journalistic accounts not as a lack of methodological rigour but as a necessity given the secrecy with which the Mexican government has conducted the war on drugs. Many of the things we know today about the horrors committed in the name of national security we know no thanks to the government, but despite the government, with the invaluable cooperation of hundreds of journalists, activists and whistleblowers that have risked their lives (and sometimes paid with them) to expose the truth.

Unless stated otherwise, translations from Spanish to English have been done by myself.

Chapter I. Blood and Fratricide: A Brief History of Civil-Military Relations in Mexico (XIX-XX centuries)

After 300 years of colonial rule, Mexico gained its independence from Spain in 1821 after a coup staged by the commandant of the king's army, general Agustin de Iturbide (who would briefly rule as emperor of Mexico) and the Insurgents that had been fighting as guerrillas opposing colonial domination since 1810 (Schlarman 2012, chaps 1–2).

Mexico was born as the product of a military coup, and this would foreshadow the first century of its independent life as a sovereign power. Between 1824 and 1880 only two Mexican presidents managed to conclude its 4 year period in office without interruptions by civil war or foreign intervention: general Guadalupe Victoria, successor of emperor Iturbide, who ruled from 1824 to 1828, and general Porfirio Diaz, who raised to power in 1876 and ruled the country with an iron fist for over three decades (Schlarman 2012, chaps 2–3).

During the XIX century Mexico experienced endless civil war and foreign invasions by the United States, Spain, France, and the United Kingdom. Many presidents only managed to rule the country for a few weeks at a time before being deposed. Between 1821 and 1946 most of the presidents of Mexico and the governors of its provinces were generals. Men in arms that through the power of violence or under the threat of its use, seized power in an endless stream of fratricide violence.

Many of these individuals were not professional soldiers, but rather farmers, lawyers, school teachers, or craftsmen that gained combat experience (especially in irregular warfare) during the multiple civil wars that the country underwent between 1821 and 1929. These individuals were considered officers because they had commanded volunteer militias, which had earned them the title of captains, colonels, or generals. Such was the case of presidents Vicente Guerrero (1829), Porfirio Diaz (1876-1911), Álvaro Obregón (1920-1924), among many others, who never attended a military academy, yet they commanded thousands of troops during these times of political turbulence (Liewen 1968, chap. I–IV).

It is not difficult to understand why so very few civilians occupied the presidency between 1821 and 1946. In this perpetual state of violence, economic crisis, and lack of public safety, the only power that could impose some degree of law and order was the power of guns and powder. The civil wars of the XIX century can be broadly narrated as the confrontation between two different views of how the new young nation should be organized, the liberal view and the conservative view (Schlarman 2012, chap. 2).

Broadly speaking, the liberals had the following agendas:

- The separation between the catholic church and the state.
- The creation of a federal government that respected local autonomy.
- The abolition of military and clerical 'fuero', a special regime of privileges that allowed for the existence of special clerical and military tribunals and laws.

In contrast, the conservatives generally committed to:

- The existence of a strong central government, even if that implied the creation of a monarchy or an empire.
- The preservation of the clerical and military 'fuero'.

The regular army ended up on the losing side of history since it usually supported the conservative faction. In contrast, the liberals generally fought alongside the national guards, local militias made up of volunteers proficient in guerilla warfare, the only successful style of warfare that can be fought in the rough and mountainous Mexican geography (Barrón 2015; Liewen 1968, chaps 1–4).

The conservative faction lost the Reforma War and the subsequent Second French Intervention (1862-1867), in which a substantial fraction of the regular army sided with the invaders to impose the rule of Emperor Maximilian of Habsburg.

General Porfirio Díaz was the first in successfully stablishing a period of continuous rule and stability between 1876 and 1911 (Garner 2010). Just like his predecessors, he seized power thanks to the army and was aware that the army was the only one powerful enough to remove him. As a precautionary measure, he reduced the size of the Federal Army and began the demobilization of the national guards to shrink the armed forces to the point in which they presented no risk to his regime (Cfr. Liewen 1968, chap. I).

General Diaz inaugurated a practice that up to this day is employed by the Army and Navy general staff to keep in line the garrison and zone commanders throughout the country. Diaz frequently moved from one province to another to the provincial military commanders in order to disrupt any political power they might have acquired while serving in that locality.

While in the XIX century it was enough to amass enough followers in a certain province with the support of several 'caciques' (warlords) to overthrow the central government, Diaz managed by frequently moving coronels and generals to different provinces to disrupt any local loyalties that a commandant might have created. In exchange for his obedience to the central government, Diaz gave leave to its officers to extort the local population, to receive bribes, and he would reward them with high salaries and land. If an officer refused to obey, Diaz would expose the corrupt activities in which that officer was engaged and then have him prosecuted by a court martial (Liewen 1968, 1–2).

Diaz succeeded in reducing the army to its bare minimum with only 25,000 troops, yet this success would be his doom. When the 1910 Mexican Revolution started, only half of those troops were properly fitted for combat. He always thought that the single largest threat to his regime was the army, not a popular insurrection (Liewen 1968, 4–12).

The political leader of this first stage of the Mexican Revolution was Mr. Francisco I. Madero, the son of well-accommodated land owners and often criticized for being too naive an idealist, lacking the iron fist needed to rule a large and wild country such as Mexico.

With the instigation of the American ambassador Mr. Henry Lane Wilson, and after a brief administration that lasted little more than a year, a coup headed by the generals Felix Díaz, Bernardo Reyes and Victoriano Huerta broke out in the capital (1913) and culminated with the assassination of president Madero and his vice president José María Pino Suárez (Schlarman 2012, chap. 3; Liewen 1968, chaps 1–2).

After the victory of the revolutionary forces over general Huerta (1914), the revolutionary government made a key decision in the shaping of civil-military relations in Mexico, the suppression of the federal army after the signature of the Teoloyucan Treatys on August 13, 1914 (Liewen 1968, 24). Up to this day, the current Mexican army does not acknowledge its origin in the XIX century federal army, but in the popular militias that fought against the dictators Díaz and Huerta during the Mexican Revolution.

The assassination of president Madero would serve as an enduring reminder of the dangers of military power, and it would inspire many of the clauses that would limit the military sphere of influence in the new constitution of 1917, the constitution drafted by the revolutionaries that up to this day governs Mexico.

Even though the new constitution included articles that forbade the armed forces from conducting policing activities or from engaging in political activity, these new rules would not be fully enforced until the second half of the XX century. Despite the best wishes of civilian politicians, the suppression of the federal army was merely the substitution of one army with another. From this point onwards, the presidents of Mexico would be the revolutionary generals and their relatives (Liewen 1968; Rath 2013). The Mexican Revolution ended with the assassination of general Obregón in 1928 and the rise of general Calles. With the rise of Calles began a historical period known as the 'Maximato', a period of relative stability between 1928-1934 in which Calles became the top 'caudillo' of the Revolution.

Calles might be considered the winner of the Mexican Revolution not because of his military talent (like most of the revolutionary generals he never received any formal military training), but because he was literally the last man standing. All the other prominent figures and commandants of the Revolution: Emiliano Zapata, Pancho Villa, Venustiano Carranza, Álvaro Obregón, were dead by that point.

Calles knew Mexico could not endure further civil war, and that just like his predecessors, he was vulnerable to a military coup. In fact, he faced and defeated a large rebellion in 1929 in which a third of the officer corps participated, the last serious military challenge to the central government (Liewen 1968, 103–4).

In an effort to prevent any further spilling of blood and to stabilize the country, Calles created a national party called the National Revolutionary Party (Partido Nacional Revolucionario, PNR). The party would serve as the institutional channel to mediate conflicts, to distribute the political and economic spoils of war earned after winning the Revolution, and would be the only channel through which the presidential succession would be disputed (Liewen 1968, chap. IV–V; Rath 2013, chaps 1–2; Córdova 2018).

The PNR was a corporate entity that assembled the three largest sectors that fought and supported the Revolution: the revolutionary army (composed mainly by militias and volunteers proficient in irregular warfare), the peasants (farmers that were exploited during the Díaz regime), and organized labour (unions of factories and mills, some of which were brutally repressed by the Díaz regime if a strike broke out).

The party did have to face further rebellions from those generals who failed to win the nomination for the presidency, being the last serious threat of rebellion the one in 1940 after general Juan Andreu Almazán, who did not receive the nomination from the revolutionary party and decided to campaign against the official nominee, general Manuel Ávila Camacho (Rath 2013, 26, 41, 60, 108, 123, 156–58). Those who founded their own parties or rebelled against the official revolutionary party were either met with electoral fraud (if they decided only to compete within the legal channels) or with violence (if they decided to revolt).

Both general Calles and his predecessor Alvaro Obregón believed in the importance of professionalizing the army and put in charge of the renewal of military education and training to general Joaquín Amaro. The end goal of building a new professional officer corp was to eventually substitute the hundreds of colonels and generals that earned their titles not because of their talent in soldiering, but of his coincidental support of the right factions during the Revolution (Liewen 1968, chap. III– V; Rath 2013, chaps 1–3 and 6).

General Lázaro Cárdenas eventually exiled Calles in order to rule as an independent president (1934-1940), and he began a series of reformations that are recognized both in the official Party history and in scholarly research as the beginning of the end of military rule in Mexico (Liewen 1968, chap. V and Epilogue; Rath 2013).

Cárdenas reorganized the party into four major sectors: the peasant sector (agricultural sector), the workers sector, the military sector, and the popular sector (that fundamentally received any members that would not be eligible for the previous three, specially included government and party bureaucrats). With this reorganization, the military was no longer the supreme overlord of the party, but merely one of four corporate entities with their own interests and agendas. When general Cárdenas was succeeded by general Ávila Camacho (1940-1946), the military sector officially disappeared and all its members, both in the party and in the Federal Congress, would be absorbed in any of the remaining three sectors, especially the popular one (Liewen 1968, XIII and 143).

Cárdenas had the support of the young professional officers that graduated from the schools and training centres inaugurated by general Joaquin Amaro. They despised the Revolutionary generals on account of their lack of formal military training and saw them as a relic of an ancient time (Cfr. Liewen 1968, 109).

Cárdenas further limited the possibility of soldiers involving themselves in politics by reforming military regulations, reiterating some of the provisions already contemplated in the 1917 constitution but that were not fully enforced by then.

On March 26, 1937, Cárdenas issued the General Rulebook of Military Duties (Reglamento General de Deberes Militares). Articles 31, 42, 92 and 284 of the Rulebook echoed the prohibition for active-duty personnel to engage in political activity that the constitution contemplated in its articles 9, 55 fraction IV and 82 fraction V (*Reglamento General de Deberes Militares* 1937; UNAM 2015). Although it should be acknowledged that the enforcement of such prohibition was loose, given that Cárdenas' successor was another general, Manuel Ávila Camacho.

Another reiteration made in the Rulebook was the prohibition of soldiers from conducting policing operations, contained in article 28 of the Rulebook and article 129 of the Constitution. Yet again, the armed forces would still conduct brutal counternarcotics and counterinsurgency campaigns in rural areas of the country throughout the XX century despite these legal prohibitions (Rath 2013, chap. V).

While in the mainstream party history Cárdenas is celebrated as the general who used the power he acquired as a revolutionary general to end the rule of revolutionary generals, soldiers would still be involved in political activity for decades to come.

Chapter II: The Pact of 1946 and its Institutions

Even after the last military president of Mexico, general Manual Avila Camacho (1940-1946), inaugurated the first independent civilian president after the Revolution, Mr. Miguel Alemán Valdés (1946-1952), soldiers would still occupy prominent civilian offices. Between de 50s and 60s on average a quarter of all the appointments for provincial governors and up to 10% of the members of Congress were soldiers. Up until 1994 it was even usual to have general in the Supreme Court, being the last soldier appointed Brigade General Carlos García Vázquez, who served as Supreme Court Justice between 1986 and 1994. Aside from the mandatory appointments of the Secretary of the Navy and Secretary of Defence, even in the XXI century Mexican presidents often prefer to appoint either generals or admirals as Attorney Generals or as Public Safety Secretaries. Additionally, there is always the representation of at least one general and one admiral in Congress at any given time, either serving as deputies or as senators. For instance, between 2018 and 2021 general Benito Medina Herrera served as deputy during the LXIV Congress and as of the moment of the writing of this dissertation (summer 2023), Vice admiral Jaime Martínez López serves as deputy and Chairman of the Navy Committee in the Federal Congress (Liewen 1968, 148; Ministros 1917-1994 Semblanzas: Tomo I 2002, 255–58; Sistema de Información Legislativa 2023b; 2023a).

The transition of the last military president to the first civilian after the turmoil of the Revolution is often referred as 'the pact', a series of unspoken rules that would constitute the civil-military relation to come, the terms and conditions agreed upon for the transition from military to civilian rule.

Before and after the Revolution the military was allowed a great degree of autonomy and entrepreneurialism. Coronels and generals became wealthy landowners and businessmen profiting from legal and illegal activities with blessings from the regime (Liewen 1968).

After Miguel Alemán took office in 1946, no other soldier would ever again serve as president in Mexico. Scholarly research is relatively homogeneous on the core of its assessment, yet there are slightly different variations on how such pact is depicted:

For Thomas Rath, the pact can be defined as an exchange of the country's presidency for operational and regional autonomy and economic (some legal, some not) incentives. No civilian president would interfere with military operations and soldiers would still be allowed (although discretely) to abuse their power to enrich themselves, either by extorting local populations or deviating resources allocated for the troops under their command to their personal fortune. These extraofficial powers granted to the armed forces are very much alive in XXI century Mexico, from small instances of extorsion

towards the local population committed from time to time by enlisted soldiers up to multimillion dollar frauds like the one committed during the administration of Secretary of Defence general Salvador Cienfuegos Zepeda (Gallegos 2020; 'Graban a Guardias Nacionales Extorsionando a Un Delincuente' 2020).

Jorge Romero depicts the pact as a transformation of the military from a political elite into an economic elite. The military would withdraw from public life, and in exchange, they would enjoy a wealthy life that also granted some extra-legal powers (*En Resistencia: La Defensa de La Vía Civil. Ponencia de Jorge Javier Romero Vadillo.* 2021).

The pact was never written and as such, one can only find indirect evidence of its existence. One piece of evidence that might support the claim made by Romero is the fact that consistently since the end of the Mexican Revolution and up to this day the armed forces have an inexplicably high number of generals and admirals (both in active duty and retired).

On average, since the 'signature' of the pact, the Mexican Army has had 500 generals on the payroll at any given time. The 2023 Federal Budget contemplates 557 positions for generals in the Ministry of Defence:

• 1 for the general appointed as Secretary of Defence (four-star general).

- 45 Division Generals (three-star generals, the highest military rank achievable for anyone other than the Secretary of Defence).
- 186 Brigade Generals (two-star generals).
- 325 Brigadiers (one-star generals).

If we consider that the Ministry of Defence has a total of 272,233 soldiers between the members of the Air Force and the Mexican Army, the ratio between generals and troops is one general per every 488 soldiers (SHCP 2022a).

Mexico does not have one single Ministry of Defence, the Navy has its own ministry with 387 admirals contemplated in the 2023 Federal Budget:

- 1 Admiral appointed as Secretary of the Navy (4-star admiral).
- 30 Admirals (3-star admirals).
- 102 Vice-admirals (2-star admirals).
- 251 Rear-admirals (1-star admirals).

In 2023 the Navy has 81,947 sailors. That is a ratio of one admiral per every 211 sailors (SHCP 2022b).

There is no operational reason to keep in the payroll that exorbitant number of commandants for such a small force. However, if we frame it within the context of the

'transition of a political elite into an economic elite', it would make sense to pay as many members of the 'Revolutionary family' as possible.

The average income of every general/admiral is as follows in the 2023 Federal Budget:

- Four-star general/admiral: 152,455 USD per annum.
- Three-star general/admiral: 151,899 USD per annum.
- Two-star general/admiral: 138,800 USD per annum.
- One-star general/admiral: 121,100 USD per annum.¹

To put that amount into perspective chapter (Cfr. SHCP 2022a; Cfr. 2022b), the minimum wage in Mexico is 12 USD a day (not per hour, per day, for 8 hours of work), and one in every two Mexican citizens lives below the poverty line, which is equivalent to earning two or less minimum wages (INEGI 2023b; CONEVAL 2020).

The 'pact' allows the military to profit not only through their official salary but also by using federal resources allocated for the military. Commandants can discretionally pick who will provide food and services for their battalions and regiments. As such, they can engage in corruption by choosing as providers of services only to their family members, friends, or businesses willing to give them some bribe in exchange for picking

¹ Calculated with a ratio of MXN to USD 16.75 at the moment of the writing of this.

them as providers. Smaller forms of profit like 'casinazos' (extortion in exchange for weekend passes and authorized leave) are also common.

Unlike any other governmental office, the armed forces audit their own expenditure. While the Superior Auditor of the Federation (Auditoría Superior de la Federación, ASF), a body of the legislative branch, audits and enforces all the accounting and transparency regulations in any other ministry, both the Ministry of the Navy and the Ministry of Defence have their own appointed auditor (an admiral and a general respectively), creating the perfect opportunity for corruption in which generals and admirals become businessmen with the citizens' tax money.

One clear example of this corruption opportunities is the scandal of 156 million USD allegedly stolen through various schemes of corruption and simulated transactions between 2013 and 2019. Up to this day not a single general has been sentenced for this scandal, and the involvement of the former secretary of defence, general Salvador Cienfuegos Zepeda (arrested in the US under charges of drug trafficking after an investigation conducted by the DEA) is still unknown (Golden 2022; Gallegos 2020).

The 'pact' is often described as a deal of military autonomy, yet the current scholarly research fails to describe in detail all the mechanisms that exist in Mexican legislation and politics that allow the armed forces for such autonomy. The 'pact' is fundamentally an agreement on which things must not exist within the Mexican legal framework because if they did, they would enforce civilian control over the military.

The promise of no further military involvement in politics

The first half of the Mexican Revolution had a clearly identifiable antimilitaristic tone. During the Revolution civilian presidents Francisco I. Madero (1911-1913) and Venustiano Carranza (1914-1920) were deeply committed to the installation of civilian rule over the country, and they were both assassinated in military coups. The population despised the plunder and repression conducted by the Federal Army under general Díaz, and even when generals Pablo Gonzalez and Álvaro Obregón competed for the presidency prior to the 1920 rebellion, they claimed that they were not trying to install the rule of a new army, a promise that history has proven, was a lie (*En Resistencia: La Defensa de La Vía Civil. Ponencia de Jorge Javier Romero Vadillo.* 2021; Rath 2013, chap. 1; Liewen 1968, chaps 1–2).

The pact has two major components, **the promise of soldiers of no further involvement in politics** (which is instanced by a series of fail safes implemented by civilian politicians to exile soldiers from politics and to prevent a coup) and **the promise** of civilians of not meddling with the operational, economic, and political life of the armed forces.

The 1914 constitution the revolutionaries drafted included multiple clauses separating the military from political activity: *Article 9*) ... *No armed meeting has the right to deliberate* (Constitute Project 2015, art. 9). This article eliminates the right of the armed forces to deliberate political matters. Although as history has proven, the military still governed Mexico until 1946.

Article 129.-No military authority may, during peacetime, perform any functions other than those directly related to military affairs... This is the article currently violated by the soldiers conducting policing operations in the name of the war on drugs. They are conducting raids, search warrants, wiretapping communications, mounting checkpoints, all sorts of law enforcement activities that in peacetime are exclusive of civilian authority.

Articles 9, 55 fraction IV and 82 fraction V of the Constitution include a clause that demands that any soldier that desires to seek the nomination to become an elected civil servant must leave active duty either by asking for a temporary license, retiring from active duty, or asking for their discharge. Soldiers wishing to become senators or deputies must leave active duty at least 90 days before the election day. If a soldier wishes to be president, he must leave active duty at least six months before the election. These articles were not fully enforced until after the military gave up the country's presidency in 1946, but they reflect the mistrust of the civilian component of the revolutionary forces on the military and their political power (*En Resistencia: La Defensa de La Vía Civil. Ponencia de Jorge Javier Romero Vadillo.* 2021).

Such mistrust would endure even after the 1946 transition of power. In September 1952, civilian president Miguel Alemán decreed the creation of the new Corp of the Presidential Guard, a far larger version of the presidential guard compared to the one used by its predecessors (Alemán 1952).

The Presidential Guard was stationed in the Federal District (Mexico City) and received much of the modern equipment acquired for World War II. While the presidential guard of general Calles usually had between 1,000 and 2,000 soldiers, the one created by Alemán was 4,000 strong (Rath 2013, 84–85 and 117).

As a failsafe in case of a coup, Alemán also commissioned the construction of a secret tunnel that connected the presidential palace with the Presidential Guard battalion located outside the Chabacano metro station. The construction of the tunnel was concealed during the construction of the avenue known as Viaducto Miguel Alemán.

A second precautionary measure was included in articles 10 and 34 of the Statute of Government of the Federal District, which stated that given the strategic importance of the nation's capital, it was the president's duty to appoint the capital's Prosecutor and the Chief of Police. Unlike any other provincial governor, Mexico City's mayor was not the commandant of the city's police, it was the president (Cámara de Diputados 1994).

This measure was taken aware that, after the Mexican Army, the Mexico City Police Department is the second largest armed corporation in the country, it is even larger than the entire Mexican Navy. A force of such size might contain any attempted coup (Cfr. INEGI 2022, 8).

A third precautionary measure taken to prevent a coup was the fragmentation of command. Mexico has more than 500 generals and over 300 admirals. The idea behind having so many commandants is to make it effectively impossible to make everyone agree to stage a coup.

Let us analyse now the second part of the pact, the legal prescriptions and absences that do not allow civilians to meddle with military operations, politics, and finances:

No civilian secretaries of the Navy and Defence

Article 16 of the Organic Law of the Army and the Air Force stipulates that only a Division General can be appointed Secretary of Defence. In turn, not any soldier can become a Division General. The Mexican Army is divided between combat arms and logistical services. The combat arms of the army are: Infantry, Calvary, Armoured (which was separated from the Cavalry in 1990), Combat Engineers, and Artillery (Cfr. *Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos* n.d., art. 56). The combat arms of the air force are pilots and paratroopers. Only combat arms officers who graduated from the Heroic Military College or the Air College are eligible to become division generals. Any officer from services like military justice, war materials, or military medicine can only become a two-star Brigade General (*Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos* n.d., arts. 191–193).

Although nominally air force generals could be eligible to become secretaries of defence, most secretaries of defence come from the Army. The air force failed in its attempt to become an independent ministry just like the navy did in 1940. Historically, the Mexican government has always neglected the budget and strategic importance of the Air Force and the Navy, and hence, the largest corp by far of the three branches is the Army (Rodríguez 2017).

The Mexican president is not free to appoint anyone as secretary of defence, he is forced to choose among the existing pool of division generals. The same happens in the navy as per articles 42, 56 and 65 of the Organic Law of the Navy. Only an officer who graduated from the Heroic Navy School that belongs to the General Corps is eligible to become an Admiral. Officers from the auxiliary services can only reach the rank of Viceadmiral (Cámara de Diputados 2012; *Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos* n.d.).

Since 1946, the sitting president has not removed a single secretary of defence from office. All of them have governed the armed forces for the same time that presidential administrations last in modern Mexico, six years (called 'sexenios'). That does not happen in any other ministry. Between 1946 and 2022 Mexico has had 30 different Interior Ministers, 22 Finance Ministers (Hacienda y Crédito Público), yet only 13 secretaries of defence. While any other minister is vulnerable to public scrutiny and pressures from the press and NGO's, no scandal has ever been sufficient to fire a secretary of defence since the turnover of the presidency to a civilian in 1946.

This would be inconceivable for countries like the US. No modern secretary of defence, unified combatant commander (e.g. USSOUTHCOM, USEUCOM, ETC.), or commandant of one of the armed forces branches (Marine Corp, Space Force, etc.) would ever be appointed for six years in a row. It is too much power concentrated on a single individual.

Lack of legislative oversight

Unlike other congresses and parliaments around the globe, the Mexican Congress lacks efficient mechanisms of oversight over the armed forces. It cannot force a minister to appear in a parliamentary inquiry or to sanction it for failing to attend a hearing. The Navy, Army and National Security committees are severely understaffed and lack a proper team of investigators to oversee the behaviour of the armed forces in their routine operations. Moreover, they usually appoint a general or admiral as chairmen of these committees, giving up their task of holding the military accountable to certain budgetary, ethical, and operational standards.

Article 58 of the National Security Law requires all the national security institutions of the state (including the armed forces) to inform every six months of their activities to the National Security Bicameral Commission. Yet Congress lacks legal powers or a professional service of investigators to contest or further inquire about whatever the armed forces and intelligence services are willing to share with Congress (*Ley de Seguridad Nacional* 2019, art. 58).

In October 2022, the Secretary of Defence refused to appear before Congress after a major cyberattack against the Ministry of Defence known as 'Guacamaya Leaks' on the grounds that he felt that the congressmen that wanted know more about the incident were being 'disrespectful'. He replied to Congress that if they wanted to know more about the cyberattack, they would have to go to the Ministry of Defence's HQ. In Mexico there is no such thing as 'contempt to Congress' contemplated as a felony in the Federal Criminal Code, so there was no consequence whatsoever for general Luis Crescencio Sandoval for not obeying this call from Congress (*Latinus* 2022b).

A similar incident of contempt to Congress happened in 2023 when Senator Emilio Álvarez Icaza, one of the most prominent human rights activists in the country, questioned during a hearing behind closed doors the Secretary of the Navy, Admiral José Rafael Ojeda Durán, about the execution of two young men in Guasave, allegedly committed by sailors. Senator Álvarez Icaza asked the admiral if he was willing to hear the family of the victims, to 'take a cup coffee with them' and hear their side of their story, to which the admiral rudely responded that he had no obligation to take a cup of coffee with those people (Loret de Mola 2023).

Another gap in legislative oversight has to do with promotions. Article 76, fraction II of the Mexican Constitution states that while the President has the power of appointing all colonels, ship captains, generals and admirals, the Senate must ratify such nominations. Yet Congress never exercises this power. Anyone the Army and Navy staff wishes to submit for promotion will receive the Senate's approval with no questions asked ('Emilio Álvarez Icaza (GP) Durante La Discusión de Ascensos En La Armada de
México' 2022; 'En Promoción de Militares Tiene Que Revisarse Su Récord de Derechos Humanos: Sen. Álvarez Icaza' 15:15; 'Sen. Álvarez Icaza Pide Dar a Conocer Lista de Ascensos Del Ejército y de La Semar Para Su Estudio' 2022).

There are very few instances in which there has been true tension and debate between Congress, the president, and the Army and Navy staff in the past decades on the issue of promotions. There are only three major examples:

- The 1953 parliamentary inquiry ordered by President Díaz Ordaz to the Senate that resulted in the denial of several promotions on the grounds that some individuals paid bribes to 'earn' their promotion (Rath 2013, 103–4).
- Alfonso Durazo Moreno, a.k.a. 'el negro Durazo', an infamous and corrupt police
 officer and intelligence officer that was promoted to Division General by president
 López Portillo, despite his career was in the police and intelligence services, not in
 the military. The army deeply resented this nomination.
- In 2018 the Senate refused the promotion of Brigade General José Luis Sánchez León to further inquiry its knowledge of the Tlatlaya extrajudicial execution. This refusal turned out to be meaningless because lather in the administration of president López Obrador he was promoted to Division General (Senado de la República 2018; Arvizu 2023).

Lack of transparency

Articles 51 and 64 of the National Security law and articles 4, 43, 104, 113, and 189 of the Transparency law allow all ministries and public offices specialized in law enforcement, intelligence, and military affairs to conceal information from the public under national security reasons (*Ley de Seguridad Nacional* 2019; *Ley General de Transparencia y Acceso a La Información Pública* n.d.). Regrettably, this legislation has been exploited by the military to conceal wrongdoings and even criminal activity from the public.

The Armed Forces are automatically allowed by the Transparency Law to classify its expenditure and operation (even if it is something as mundane as the information generated for hosting a cocktail party in the Ministry's HQ) as a national security secret.

The opacity of the armed forces allowed by the Transparency Law is so significant that, until the Guacamaya leaks happened, it was unknown the existence of the Military Intelligence Centre, a secret organization not listed either in the annual federal budget or the Organic Law of the Army and Air Force. This Centre has been involved in political espionage and operates without being acknowledged as an intelligence service by the National Security Law. It does not even ask for warrants before wiretapping the communications of private citizens (Kitroeff and Bergman 2023; R3D 2023; *Aristegui Noticias* 2023). During the Ayotzinapa execution (2014) investigation, the Ministry of Defence used almost all the exclusions that the Transparency Law allows a ministry to deny public information. It argued that it did not have information about the case, which was eventually discovered to be a lie, and no soldier was ever sanctioned for lying to these freedom of information requests. Despite general Cienfuegos Zepeda emphatically denied that any of his soldiers had anything to do with the execution, in June 2023, 8 soldiers were arrested for their alleged involvement in the execution ('Entrevista Con El General Salvador Cienfuegos, Titular de Sedena' 2015; *Animal Político* 2023; *Univision* 2016).

Lack of executive oversight

Since the democratic transition of 2000 (when the PRI lost the presidential election after ruling the country for decades with an iron fist, with the army as one of their main enforcers), the relationship of each sitting president with the armed forces has been one of cordiality and adulation, never confrontation.

Each president has limited himself to commend the armed forces for their loyalty and sacrifice publicly, they grant periodic salary increases, but no president has confronted the armed forces for their atrocities or attempted to meddle with military politics. Despite nominally the president is the one who proposes to the Senate which colonels, generals, ship captains, and admirals are to be promoted, in practice the president merely forwards the promotion lists the Army and Navy staff have drafted.

This might be motivated by ignorance since Mexico has not had a military or even a veteran president since 1946. For many presidents, the armed forces are like creatures from another planet, a world they do not comprehend and might be dangerous to try to change. It might be impossible for an individual who has never been part of that world to reform or resist it.

The army has remained a powerful political ally even after the downfall of the PRI. Both president Felipe Calderón (2006-2012) and López Obrador (2018-2024) invested most of their political currency in cultivating their relationship with the army and using them as a source of legitimacy for their governments.

For instance, the current Mexican president, Andrés Manuel López Obrador, frequently substitutes civilians with soldiers blaming civilians as inevitably corrupt and inefficient, while in contrast presents soldiers as ever loyal and efficient.

For these reasons, it might be understandable why no modern Mexican president has ever attempted to meddle with the internal political life of the armed forces, and without external supervision, soldiers and sailors can do whatever they see fit with their budget, deployments, and political influence. The president is on paper the supreme commander of the armed forces, but in reality is the supreme cheerleader, a political figure that usually limits his role to increasing the budget and salaries of the armed forces, and thanking them endlessly in public ceremonies.

All the terms and conditions of the 'pact' turn the Armed Forces into an autonomous body inside the Mexican state (Díez 2012). But what are the reasons to say that this has gone one step beyond? What evidence could support the claim that the Mexican armed forces are in a de facto state of self-government and are borderline independent from civilian authority? To answer that question we must look closer into the XXI century military politics during their involvement in the war on drugs.

Chapter 3: From the militarization of law enforcement to the militarization of public life

The army was the main enforcer of violence and discipline during the PRI rule, yet in the second half of the XX century it was not the only bureaucracy that existed for that purpose. Civilian intelligence services like the DFS (1947-1985) and the CISEN (1989-2018) were created for surveillance and elimination of political dissidents. In that regard, the history of Mexican security services is tragic. These corporations were not created to protect the citizens from threats to their lives, but to protect the regime from anyone who would dare to criticize or undermine it (Rath 2013, chap. 5; Aguayo 2001; Rosas 2011, 37–99).

The army is the largest and more funded of the three services precisely because the Mexican Armed forces have always been almost exclusively tasked with internal security tasks: counterinsurgency, civil war, counternarcotics, and law enforcement. The Mexican state is not concerned with acquiring aircraft carriers or strategic bombers for a distant war overseas when there are plenty of domestic threats: criminals, bandits, drug smugglers, etc (Rath 2013, 5, 16, 18, 26, 169; Liewen 1968, 48–49, 68–69, 85–86, 110, 141– 49). Although the Mexican Army has always been tasked with some law enforcement activities, after the second half of the XX century it was not the only bureaucracy tasked with such duty. The army gradually became just one bureaucracy out of many in a complex constellation of services dedicated to protecting the regime.

The intervention of the armed forces in internal security affairs is characterized by a counterinsurgency approach. The army is not trained nor interested in prosecuting criminals, it does not collect evidence to put people in jail, merely 'terminates' troublemakers. Proof of this pragmatic approach is documented in the 'Dirty War' (1958-2000) literature and in the many Inter-American Human Rights Court rulings against the Mexican state for human rights violations committed during the Dirty War and the War on Drugs (Mandolessi and Olalde Rico 2022; Bornemann 2007; McCormick 2017; Smith and Roberts 2008; 'Radilla-Pacheco vs. Mexico' 2009; Rath 2013, chap. V).

Since the 90s, the army has undergone a journey from being just one of many agencies dedicated to internal security and law enforcement to become again in 2023 the indisputable hegemon of the Mexican national security system.

Mexico underwent a process of remilitarization since the 80s. While Lázaro Cárdenas and Ávila Camacho in preparation for the 'pact' substantially reduced the budget and size of the army (between 50,000-60,000 men), the armed forces budget and

strength grew from the 80s until reaching the current size in the XXI century, an average of 250,000 soldiers and 80,000 sailors (Rath 2013, 172).

Legally soldiers are not allowed to conduct law enforcement operations, the legal powers of a soldier are not the same of a police officer during peacetime. This is stipulated in article 129 of the Constitution and article 28 of the General Rulebook of Military Duties.

As the country slowly transitioned from the dictatorship of a single party to the struggling democracy that it is today (2000-2023), the army could no longer rely on unspoken pacts to keep conducting internal security duties. If the army was to keep that power, it had to be written on paper.

The first major legal victory of the army was won in 1996 amid the creation of the National Public Safety System. The 1995 Law that Set the Foundations for Coordination of the National Public Safety System sparked controversy because its article 12 granted a seat in the National Public Safety Council to the Minister of Defence and another to the Minister of the Navy. The controversy reached the Supreme Court, and in 1996 the Court ruled that it was constitutional that both ministers had the opportunity to offer some input in the design of law enforcement policy ('Acción de Inconstitucionalidad 1/96' 1996; Cámara de Diputados 1995).

This Supreme Court rule that merely granted this sit to both ministers to speak in the National Public Safety Council has been used, abused, and stretched by every Mexican president since 2006 to justify the militarization of law enforcement that Mexico is undergoing. What originally was a rather narrow and specific ruling upon the constitutionality of the presence of these individuals in a consultive council has become an instrument of lawfare to justify the presence of the military and their methods on the streets (Jackson, Murphy, and Poynting 2009; Smith and Roberts 2008).

When in December 2006 president Felipe Calderón ordered the massive deployment of thousands of troops for law enforcement operations he faced a major legal challenge. Soldiers' authority cannot be broadened during peacetime. However, the activation of article 29 of the Constitution, the declaration of a national emergency and acknowledging the existence of narcoterrorism or a non-international armed conflict would have damaged Mexico's international reputation, especially amid the global War on Terror conducted by the US after the 9/11 terrorist attacks.

To not call for unwanted international attention, president Calderón sent to Congress in 2009 an amendment to the National Security Law that allowed for a 'mini declaration of national emergency' that did not require activating article 29 of the Constitution. The bill passed in the Senate but was defeated in the Chamber of Deputies (Calderón 2009; Minuta Con Proyecto de Decreto Que Reforma Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley de Seguridad Nacional 2010).

Years of operating without proper legal authorization took a toll in the army's legitimacy, prestige, and hundreds of soldiers even ended up behind bars for their involvement in the war on drugs ('DD.HH. Personal Militar Procesado y Sentenciado 2023' 2023; Peralta n.d.; Rea and Ferri 2019). For this reason, the army lobbied once again to revive the 2009 law proposed by Calderón, now rebranded the Interior Security Law.

The history of how the Interior Security Law came to be is one of blackmail and insubordination. While any secretary in a democratic country would threaten to resign as a last resort to press a president to produce a public policy change, general Cienfuegos Zepeda veiledly threatened President Enrique Peña Nieto to withdraw all its soldiers from the streets and leave the understaffed civilian authorities to deal with the crisis, a crisis that, ironically, did not begin until the army was deployed in the first place (Azam and Feuer 2020; *Aristegui Noticias* 2017; Atuesta and Ponce 2016; Treviño et al. 2022; Madrazo, Calzada, and Romero 2018).

There is no direct evidence or testimony outside of the political gossip that general Cienfuegos blackmailed or threatened President Peña Nieto with this withdrawal, however there is robust indirect evidence that points in that direction.

- Exhibit A: In a rare display of sincerity (generals rarely give more than a few minutes of interviews for choreographed official statements), general Cienfuegos publicly claimed that he was the first soldier interested in leaving the streets and law enforcement operations (*Sin Embargo* 2016). This is in itself implausible. As Graham Allison and Philip Zelikow claim, bureaucracies tend to fight over influence in public policy by proposing policy solutions that fall within their sphere of expertise (Allison and Zelikow 1999). The war on drugs has been the most profitable endeavour for the Mexican armed forces. During the administration of President Felipe Calderón alone (2006-2012), the SEDENA budget doubled (Rodríguez 2017, 82–84). At the very best, this statement from general Cienfuegos was deceitful.
- Exhibit B: The Interior Security Law was approved hastily, in a rush. The draft of the law (most likely not even drafted by the president's advisors but by the Ministry of Defence staff) was submitted to Congress without prior consultation with the Technical Secretariat of the National Security Council (Secretaría Técnica del Consejo de Seguridad Nacional, STCSN), the office of national security advisors of the Office of the Presidency. The president's national security advisors were consulted after the bill was submitted, not before. Why would the president

ignore or forget to ask his staff before sending one of the most important bills in national security legislation (*Aristegui Noticias* 2017)?

The Interior Security Law was approved in 2017 and declared unconstitutional by the Supreme Court in 2019 ('Crónica de La Acción de Inconstitucionalidad 6/2018 y Sus Acumuladas 8/2018, 9/2018, 10/2018 y 11/2018' 2018). Yet the armed forces did not give up until they found a champion that fully legalized their illegal presence on the streets, the current Mexican president, Andrés Manuel López Obrador (AMLO).

President López Obrador was at least on paper an anti-militaristic politician, although US diplomatic cables indicate that he was just as willing as Felipe Calderon, his rival in the 2006 election, to militarize law enforcement if he had won the election (Garza 2006; *Infobae* 2022).

López Obrador campaigned against the Interior Security Law and constantly sided with the victims of human rights violations. Yet once he won the election, he completely changed his mind and began a militarization endeavour that even surpassed the one made by his eternal political enemy, President Felipe Calderon (Ramírez 2018b; 2018a; *Milenio* 2018).

Unlike his predecessors that deployed the armed forces along with civilian authorities like the Federal Police, the civilian intelligence service CISEN and detectives from the Attorney General's Office, AMLO proposed to disappear the Federal Police, to appoint a general (Division General Audomaro Martínez Zapata) as director of the intelligence civilian service (rebranding it the National Intelligence Center, CNI), and to make the armed forces the sole national police department in the country, under the disguise of a new police corporation called the National Guard.

It is not a coincidence that he chose that name for the new 'police' department. The constitution contained some residual articles from the 1857 constitution that still talked about the national guards, although they were effectively dismantled after the Revolution, with their only direct heir being the Rural Defence Corps of the SEDENA, currently integrated by just a handful of companies (SEDENA 2018, art. 117). Articles 10, 31, 35-36, 73, 76, 78, 89, contained these archaic references to the national guards (Secretaría de Gobernación 2014).

Although the National Guard was announced as a new civilian police, around 80% of its personnel is from the army and navy, with a small component of remaining federal police officers yet to be fired. The soldiers and sailors assigned to the new corporation were not officially transferred to the Ministry of Public Safety to serve as police officers, they were merely assigned a temporary commission, but they retained their employment as soldiers, their commandants are soldiers, they still receive military training, live in

military barracks, and receive their payment either from the Ministry of Defence or the Navy (Observatorio de la Guardia Nacional 2022).

The government propaganda claims that by 2022 the National Guard managed to be close to 114,000 strong (Guardia Nacional 2022), surpassing the Mexican Army's recruitment in the past two decades. To claim that in only 4 years the current administration recruited more than the entire Mexican Army in the past 20 years sounds like an impressive feature. However, this claim was made from manipulation of official statistics:

The 2022 Federal Budget contemplated 38,734 positions for National Guards in the Ministry for Public Safety (SSPC). How can the government claim to have 114,000 brandnew police officers when the Federal Budget only accounts for a third of that personnel (SHCP n.d.)?

The answer is that the National Guard does not have newly recruited 'police officers', but merely soldiers and sailors that disguise themselves as police officers and are borrowed by the ministries of Defence and Navy. The 2022 Public Safety Census indicates that the National Guard had 100,332 members according to the National Geography and Statistics Institute (INEGI): 60,728 soldiers, 16,788 sailors and 22,062 former civilian federal police officers ('Censo Nacional de Seguridad Pública Federal 2022' 2022, 10). The remaining federal police officers have been slowly fired or bullied so that they sign their resignation, given that now that they work under military commanders, they are seen by soldiers as unreliable and weak due to their civilian expertise as professional law enforcement officers ('Policías al Grito de Guerra: Ser Policía En Una Corporación Militar' 2022).

What nominally appears as the National Guard budget in the Ministry of Public Safety, is actually the remaining budget still used to pay the stubborn remaining civilian police officers that have resisted being bullied into retirement or resignation.

When the National Guard was created in 2019 it faced many legal challenges (DECRETO Por El Que Se Reforman, Adicionan y Derogan Diversas Disposiciones de La Constitución Política de Los Estados Unidos Mexicanos, En Materia de Guardia Nacional 2019), being the main one the fact that even if a soldier or a sailor receives a temporary commission to any other ministry, he does not acquire the legal powers of that said ministry. For example, suppose a civil servant of the Ministry of the Interior is temporarily commissioned to the Ministry of the Navy to work on a maritime security joint project. In that case, Mexican administrative law does not automatically grant that civil servant the legal powers of the ministry where he will be working temporarily. That civil servant does not earn navy rank just because he is commissioned temporarily to

work in the Ministry of the Navy, and he cannot simply board a navy frigate and start giving orders.

Equally, soldiers and sailors temporarily commissioned to the SSPC were not police officers. They were wearing police uniforms and riding the police cars of the new police department (which were not even new, but vehicles from SEDENA and the Federal Police that were repainted in with new colours), but a simple commission is not the same as being officially transferred from one ministry to another.

The Army and Navy never wanted to transfer their personnel to the Ministry for Public Safety because that would mean that if in 2024 AMLO and its party MORENA lose the election, the National Guard might be disbanded and both the Army and Navy would lose the budget allocated for all the personnel they transferred.

Given that these thousands of soldiers and sailors were conducting law enforcement operations without being fully acknowledged by the law as police officers, many judges released people detained by the National Guard on the grounds that they were detained by an illegitimate authority, exposing these soldiers and sailors to prosecution for impersonating a real police officer.

To deal with this legal conundrum, President López Obrador decreed in May 11 2020 that until March 2024 all soldiers would be granted law enforcement powers as a provisional measure while the National Guard was consolidated. Despite all the controversy that this decree created, it was considered constitutional by the Supreme Court (*Diario Oficial de La Federación* 2020; Suprema Corte de Justicia de la Nación 2022).

Although nominally the National Guard was announced as a new civilian police department, the civilian SSPC Secretary has no real influence over the operation of the National Guard, which is in command of a general.

Given that the population did not react adversely to the disbandment of the Federal Police and the militarization of law enforcement at the federal level, President López Obrador took a step further and passed a new bill in 2022 to transfer the National Guard from the SSPC to SEDENA. In practice, it was SEDENA who was always in command, but this would mean that the Ministry of Defence would have not only *de facto* control of the National Guard, but also *de iure*. The bill transformed the National Guard into the fourth armed force and placed it under the SEDENA command forever (*Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman, Adicionan y Derogan Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley Orgánica de La Administración Pública Federal; de La Ley de La Guardia Nacional; de La Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos, y de La Ley de Ascensos y Recompensas Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos, En Materia de Guardia Nacional y Seguridad Pública* 2022; Hernández 2023). The National Guard effectively dismantled the complex environment of cooperation and competition among bureaucracies that existed between 2000 and 2019. While prior to its creation there were multiple agencies, police departments and intelligence services involved in the war on drugs, after the transition many of them were disappeared, rendered useless or captured by the army:

- Federal Police, disappeared and substituted by the National Guard.
- Center for Research and National Security (CISEN), disbanded, rebranded (National Intelligence Center, CNI) and put in charge of a soldier, general Audomaro Martínez Zapata.
- Technical Secretariat of the National Security Council (STCSN), reduced to irrelevance. The National Security Council has not sessioned even once during this administration.
- Navy, placed partially under Army command.

This last point is particularly important because in Mexican military law army and navy hierarchies are never supposed to intertwine. However, President López Obrador trusted the creation and operation of the National Guard specifically to the army, not to the air force or the navy. This means that navy ship captains and admirals commissioned to the National Guard must obey their SEDENA counterparts. At least on land with its marine battalions, the Navy is now an operational appendix of SEDENA (Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman, Adicionan y Derogan Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley Orgánica de La Administración Pública Federal; de La Ley de La Guardia Nacional; de La Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos, y de La Ley de Ascensos y Recompensas Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos, En Materia de Guardia Nacional y Seguridad Pública 2022, transitory articles; ACUERDO Por El Que Se Establecen Los Elementos de La Policía Federal, de La Policía Militar y de La Policía Naval Que Integrarán La Guardia Nacional 2019; Hernández 2022).

While originally the president announced that only military police from the army and navy would integrate the National Guard, in practice personnel from infantry, cavalry, artillery, marines, and any other sector of the armed forces disguised themselves as police officers and started operating as such.

Thanks to Guacamaya Leaks it was discovered that the president did not write many of these reformations to military regulations, but they were drafted directly by SEDENA's general staff. From a legislative perspective, the army does not obey civilian power, it drafts its own regulations and hands them over to civilians for approval without facing any resistance (INEGI 2023b).

The 2022 reformation to transfer the National Guard from the SSPC to SEDENA was also accompanied by an internal reformation to create inside SEDENA a Joint Staff,

whose purpose was to control the now three branches inside SEDENA: Army, Air Force and National Guard (*Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman y Adicionan Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos* 2022). This internal reorganization was presented to the public as the modernization of the management of the armed forces to resemble modern western countries.

In reality, the creation of the Joint Staff had nothing to do with the modernization of the armed forces, it was a political move in anticipation of the completion of SEDENA's goal of becoming the one and indisputable hegemon of the Mexican national security system, a necessary management readjustment to handle the newly acquired legal powers, budget and personnel.

With the creation of the National Guard, SEDENA had three budgets under its charge, the army budget, the air force budget, and the National Guard (SSPC) budget. Overnight, SEDENA became two ministries into a single ministry.

With the creation of the Joint Staff it was also announced the creation of the figure of the Commandant of the Army (*Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman y Adicionan Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos* 2022). While previously it was assumed that the Minister of Defence was the commandant of the army, this increase in power and responsibilities implied that just as the National Guard and Air Force had a commander contemplated in law, also it was needed for the Army. This appointment in practice is merely honorary, since still only a general from the army will always be appointed as Secretary of Defence.

SEDENA's budget has skyrocketed during AMLO's administration, well above the Ministry of the Navy:



Source: Ministry of Finance (SHCP)²

This graph is only part of the picture since it only accounts for what officially is allocated in the Federal Budget for the Ministry of Defence, yet Mexican administrative law allows ministries to strike deals with the provincial governments, municipalities, and

² Calculation of USD to Mexican peso of \$17 ('Analíticos Del Presupuesto de Egresos de La Federación' 2006).

other ministries to exchange budget in order to provide certain services. That means that SEDENA can assume tasks that these entities originally should perform in exchange for a price. Through these agreements, SEDENA has absorbed over 100 activities ranging from control of civilian aviation, environmental protection, law enforcement activities, welfare, immigration, education, among others. Between 2009 and 2021, a total of \$4,331,776,507 USD have been transferred to SEDENA, additional to what they are allocated annually in the Federal Budget (Velázquez et al. 2021).

President López Obrador has been especially keen in asking the military to substitute civilians in their duties as public servants. Some of the dozens of roles assigned to them during this administration are:

- The construction of major public infrastructure, like the new Mexico City International Airport AIFA, the Mayan Peninsula Train, the Welfare Bank branches, among others.
- The Navy was assigned control over the old Mexico City International Airport Benito Juárez (DOF 2023b).
- The army is now in charge of the enforcement of immigration policy through the National Guard (which is constituted by soldiers disguised as police officers) and

the multiple retired generals and coronels that now run the National Immigration Institute (INM).

- Control over ports and airports. In 2023 even the appointed Customs Director was a soldier, Division General André Georges Foullon van Lissum (Presidencia de la República 2023).
- The navy was put in charge of national cybersecurity after the creation of the General Cyberspace Coordination in 2022 (SEMAR 2022).
- The president appointed air force generals as Civilian Aviation Directors, Miguel Enrique Vallin Osuna and Carlos Antonio Rodríguez Munguía (*Latinus* 2022a).
- The president intends by 2023 to expel academics from the Bio Security Council (Consejo de Salubridad General) and to give a sit to the ministries of Defence and Navy instead to handle all biohazards. This would mean that in the future, emergencies like COVID-19 would be handled by the military and not by scientists (*Latinus* 2023).

It might be argued that the soundest proof that civilians are still in command of the armed forces is the fact that Mexican presidents have granted these new tasks to soldiers and they have obeyed, yet it is suspicious, to say the least, that no president has yet dared to reduce military budget or to withdraw them from the civilian tasks that they have absorbed. Two incidents of insubordination might suggest that President López Obrador (or any civilian president for that matter) is not truly in control of the army. The first was the arrest of general Cienfuegos Zepeda, Secretary of Defence between 2012-2018, under charges of drug trafficking after an investigation conducted by the DEA (Golden 2022).

When President López Obrador first talked about the arrest, he initially praised the arrest as a sign of the previous administration's corruption headed by President Enrique Peña Nieto (*Forbes* 2020). Yet overnight he changed his mind and after receiving immense pressure from the army, he mobilized all the Ministry of Foreign Affairs' diplomatic assets to bring the general back to Mexico. Under the threat of expelling all DEA agents operating in Mexico, the Justice Department had no option but no drop the charges against Cienfuegos before he had his day in court. As retaliation, President López Obrador reformed the National Security Law to limit the operation of foreign intelligence and law enforcement agencies on Mexican sovereign soil (DOF 2020).

Scholars like Paloma Cortés described the Cienfuegos affair as a soft coup in Mexico. The army managed to blackmail the president to fight for the freedom of general Cienfuegos. It is not a complete coup in the sense that the army never officially revolted, but a soft coup, an insubordination that threatened the president enough to change his mind about the general's fate (Cortés 2021). The second incident of disobedience concerns the Ayotzinapa execution (2014). General Cienfuegos Zepeda lied on national television denying any involvement of the Mexican Army ('Entrevista Con El General Salvador Cienfuegos, Titular de Sedena' 2015; *Animal Político* 2023), and when a truth commission was created under instructions of President López Obrador to discover what happened to the victims, the army began spying on the team of researchers working for the commission using the Pegasus software commercialized by NSO group. They even spied Mr Alejandro Encinas, Undersecretary for Human Rights of the Ministry of the Interior, one of the oldest and most loyal political allies of President López Obrador. No soldier was prosecuted for this political espionage ('Ejército Espía: Centro PRODH Nuevamente Atacado Con Pegasus' n.d.; Kitroeff and Bergman 2023).

It is unclear why President López Obrador trusts so much the armed forces to the point of ignoring these illegal acts of insubordination. He might be enticed by what a ministry of defence can achieve with a pharaonic budget and multiple extra-legal powers. Lilian Bobea argues that it is not uncommon for Latin-American presidents to ask for aid to the armed forces because ruling in a democracy is a frustrating experience. Democratic government is characterized by deliberation and negotiation, not imposition. Yet even democracies have one remaining institution designed to be ruled as a tyranny, the armed forces (Bobea 2017). However, it is just as likely that President López Obrador is afraid of his soldiers and has lost control over them.

Thanks to Guacamaya Leaks it was found that while campaigning López Obrador was not only spied by the civilian intelligence service CISEN, but also by the army. Even his wife's phone was wiretapped. After decades of being surveilled the army might have some material to blackmail the president to obtain the budget and legal powers that it desires (*Infobae* 2021; De Mauleón 2022).

Regardless of whether President López Obrador trusts or fears his soldiers, the democratic setback that has represented the political and economical rise of the army is difficult to assess. The army has not fully substituted all other civilian bureaucracies, but is at least in control of the most important ones: customs, federal law enforcement, public works, etc.

No ministry can compete with the current power of SEDENA, and with the creation of the Joint Staff, it is possible that in the next administration SEDENA might try to absorb its final rival, the Ministry of the Navy (Hernández 2022).

Conclusions

What began in the early 2000's as a militarization of law enforcement (the deployment of thousands of troops to conduct law enforcement operations along with federal police officers, civilian intelligence services and prosecutors), has degenerated into a militarization of public life in Mexico.

Today, the army (not the Air Force, not the Navy) is the power behind the power, the largest bureaucracy supporting the president's political project. Along the way, they have become wealthy businessmen.

The president unlawfully ordered (in open disobedience of a ruling by the Supreme Court) to consider national security secrets all the expenditures of the armed forces in their newly assumed roles. Opacity is the perfect environment for corruption. We will not be able to discover how many generals and admirals became rich at the expense of the Federal Budget until this information is finally leaked or declassified ('SCJN INVALIDA EL ACUERDO POR EL QUE EL EJECUTIVO FEDERAL EMITIÓ UNA DECLARATORIA DE INTERÉS PÚBLICO Y SEGURIDAD NACIONAL RESPECTO DE DIVERSOS PROYECTOS Y OBRAS' 2023; DOF 2021; 2023a).

Mexico has returned to the epoch of the Revolution in which soldiers were businessmen, but there is a grave danger in this involution. During the Revolution, the army limited itself in its entrepreneurial advances. The army's internal political life was the one that balanced how much could be stolen from the Federal Budget. The main difference between the times of the Revolution and the XXI century is that we live now in a country that inherited the institutions of the 1946 pact, a country in which deliberately there are no institutions to hold accountable the armed forces precisely because it was assumed that after 1946 they would never return into politics.

Soldiers have returned to politics in the XXI century at the express requests of civilian presidents, members of Congress and governors, but if Mexico aspires to remain a democracy, its oversight of the armed forces must be reformed.

Civilians have withheld their end of the bargain, no executive or legislative authority is willing or capable enough to bother the armed forces, but given that civilians have asked soldiers to break their side of the pact, the new status quo calls for new institutions.

At the beginning of the XXI century, scholarly research was focused on answering the question of whether the deployment of soldiers to the streets could be considered militarization (Díez 2012). In 2023 the question is not about whether the country is undergoing a militarization process, but rather how far that militarization will go. If Mexican society wishes to grant more power and responsibilities to the armed forces while remaining a democracy, it must equally increase the executive and legislative oversight mechanisms over its expenditure and operation.

Thus far, the only branch that has exerted some degree of control over the armed forces is the judiciary branch. Judges and supreme court justices frequently hold soldiers accountable for the atrocities they have committed during the war on drugs. General Luis Cresencio Sandoval (current Secretary of Defense) called threats to the country anyone (journalists, human rights activists, etc.) that dares defy the political project of president López Obrador, and admiral José Rafael Ojeda (current Secretary of the Navy) openly stated that he sees the judiciary branch of government as an enemy (Manneto 2021; García 2022; 'El Polémico Discurso de Luis Cresencio Sandoval' 2021).

The Supreme Court declared unconstitutional the transfer of the National Guard from the SSPC to SEDENA given that when the new 'police' department was created, the political agreement of all factions in Congress was that SEDENA would only temporarily handle the National Guard as the new 'civilian' police consolidated. With this ruling, the court also denied the National Guard its new status of being considered the fourth branch of the armed forces. The Deputy Chief of the National Guard, general Héctor Ortiz Caletty, claimed that the National Guard would not revert its internal reorganization (the militarization of the police department, the creation of the Joint Staff, etc.) until the president himself gave the order, in an open act of defiance to the Supreme Court's ruling ('SCJN INVALIDA EL TRASLADO DEL CONTROL OPERATIVO Y ADMINISTRATIVO DE LA GUARDIA NACIONAL A LA SECRETARÍA DE LA DEFENSA NACIONAL' 2023; Dávila 2023).

No policy or politics sphere in 2023 is free from the presence and influence of soldiers. The civilian end of the 1946 pact might not have changed, but circumstances certainly have. Mexican democracy is at a crucible, it can revert this militarization and consolidate, or it can return to the military regime of the XX century, maintaining the civilian appearance not to trigger alarms overseas, but deep down being controlled by the men on horseback.

The army is aware of the political consequences of a traditional coup. International sanctions, diplomatic condemnation, and they do not wish to deal with such nuisances. A more subtle takeover of power, like the one currently occurring in Mexico might be more beneficial. Just as it took a revolutionary general, Lázaro Cárdenas, to set the foundations to end the rule of revolutionary generals, it would seem that now is a popular and loved civilian president, López Obrador, the one who is setting the foundations for the end of civilian rule in Mexico.

Bibliography

- 'Acción de Inconstitucionalidad 1/96'. 1996. https://sjf2.scjn.gob.mx/detalle/ejecutoria/3534.
- ACUERDO Por El Que Se Establecen Los Elementos de La Policía Federal, de La Policía Militar y de La Policía Naval Que Integrarán La Guardia Nacional. 2019. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5564435&fecha=28/06/2019#gs c.tab=0.
- Aguayo, Sergio. 2001. La Charola: Una Historia de Los Servicios de Inteligencia En México. México: Grijalbo.
- Alemán, Miguel. 1952. Decreto Que Crea El Cuerpo de Guardias Presidenciales. https://www.memoriapoliticademexico.org/Textos/6Revolucion/1952-MA-DCGP.html.
- Allison, Graham, and Philip Zelikow. 1999. *Essence of Decision: Explaining the Cuban Missile*. New Jersey: Pearson.
- 'Analíticos Del Presupuesto de Egresos de La Federación'. 2006. SHCP. https://www.pef.hacienda.gob.mx/es/PEF/Analiticos_PresupuestariosPEF.
- Animal Político. 2023. 'Caso Ayotzinapa: 8 Militares Fueron Detenidos Por Su Probable Participación En La Desaparición de Los 43 Estudiantes', 21 June 2023. https://www.animalpolitico.com/seguridad/militares-detenidos-caso-ayotzinapa.
- Aristegui Noticias. 2017. 'Prisa Por Legislar En Seguridad Interior, Tras Chantaje de Sedena: Académicos y Defensores', 15 February 2017. https://aristeguinoticias.com/1502/mexico/prisa-por-legislar-en-seguridadinterior-tras-chantaje-de-sedena-academicos-y-defensores/.
- ---. 2023. 'Así Ocultó Sedena al GIEI La Existencia Del Centro Militar de Inteligencia', 25 July 2023. https://www.msn.com/es-mx/noticias/mexico/as%C3%ADocult%C3%B3-sedena-al-giei-la-existencia-del-centro-militar-de-inteligencia/ar-AA1elO8a?ocid=msedgdhp&pc=U531&cvid=c12c1588ee2b409da007f26b13bcf170 &ei=8.
- Arvizu, Juan. 2023. 'Senado Pospone Ascenso de Sánchez León a General de División', 14 November 2023. https://www.eluniversal.com.mx/nacion/seguridad/senadofrena-ascenso-de-jose-luis-sanchez-general-de-division/.
- Atuesta, Laura, and Aldo Ponce. 2016. *Cómo Las Intervenciones de Las Fuerzas Públicas de Seguridad Alteran La Violencia. Evidencia Del Caso Mexicano*. Aguascalientes: CIDE.
- Azam, Ahmed, and Alan Feuer. 2020. '¿Quién Era El Padrino de Los Cárteles de La Droga Mexicanos? El Secretario de Defensa Del País'. *The New York Times*, 16 October

2020. https://www.nytimes.com/es/2020/10/16/espanol/mexico-salvador-cienfuegos-detenido.html.

- Barr, William. 2023. 'The U.S. Must Defeat Mexico's Drug Cartels'. *The Wall Street Journal*,
 2 March 2023. https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-us-must-defeat-mexicos-drug-cartels-narco-terrorism-amlo-el-chapo-crenshaw-military-law-enforcement-b8fac731.
- Barrón, Martín. 2015. *Alternativa a La Seguridad: Gendarmería o Guardia Nacional*. México: INACIPE.
- Bobea, Lilian. 2017. '¿Cambio, Adaptación o Reciclaje?: Las Fuerzas Armadas Caribeñas'. *Foreign Affairs Latinoamérica* 17–4 (December). https://revistafal.com/numerosanteriores/fal-17-4/.
- Bornemann, Alberto. 2007. *Surviving Mexico's Dirty War: A Political Prisoner's Memoir*. Edited by Arthur Schmidt. Temple University Press.
- Calderón, Felipe. 2009. Iniciativa de Decreto Por El Que Se Reforma La Ley de Seguridad Nacional. https://www.senado.gob.mx/65/gaceta_del_senado/documento/20288.
- Cámara de Diputados. 1994. *Estatuto de Gobierno Del Distrito Federal*. https://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/10_270614.pdf.
- ———. 1995. Ley General Que Establece Las Bases de Coordinación Del Sistema Nacional de Seguridad Pública.

https://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/abro/lgbcsnsp/LGBCSNSP_abro.pdf.

- ---. 2012. *Ley Orgánica de La Armada de México*. https://www.senado.gob.mx/comisiones/marina/docs/Ley_OAM.pdf.
- Campbell, Howard, and Tobin Hansen. 2014. 'Is Narco-Violence in Mexico Terrorism?: Narco-Violence in Mexico'. *Bulletin of Latin American Research* 33 (2): 158–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/blar.12145.
- 'Censo Nacional de Seguridad Pública Federal 2022'. 2022. Censo Nacional de Seguridad Pública Federal. México: INEGI. https://www.inegi.org.mx/contenidos/programas/cnspf/2022/doc/cnspf_2022_res ultados.pdf.
- Comisión Nacional de Búsqueda. 2023. 'Registro Nacional de Personas Desaparecidas y No Localizadas'. Secretaría de Gobernación. https://versionpublicarnpdno.segob.gob.mx/Dashboard/ContextoGeneral.
- CONEVAL. 2020. 'Medición de La Pobreza: Pobreza En México'. México. https://www.coneval.org.mx/Medicion/Paginas/PobrezaInicio.aspx.
- Constitute Project. 2015. Mexico's Constitution of 1917 with Amendments through 2015. Political Constitution of the Mexican United States. https://www.constituteproject.org/constitution/Mexico_2015.pdf?lang=en.

Córdova, Arnaldo. 2018. La Formación Del Poder Político En México. México: Era.

- Cortés, Paloma. 2021. 'Salvador Cienfuegos y El Golpe de Estado Tácito En México'. *Campo Marte* (blog). 15 January 2021. https://www.campomarte.com.mx/salvadorcienfuegos-y-el-golpe-de-estado-tacito-en-mexico/.
- Crenshaw, Dan. 2023. *Declaring War on the Cartels Act of* 2023. https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/713/text?s=1&r=45.
- Crenshaw, Dan, and Michael Waltz. 2023. *Authorization for Use of Military Force (AUMF) Cartel Influence Resolution*. https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-joint-resolution/18/text.
- 'Crónica de La Acción de Inconstitucionalidad 6/2018 y Sus Acumuladas 8/2018, 9/2018, 10/2018 y 11/2018'. 2018. https://www.scjn.gob.mx/sites/default/files/cronicas_pleno_salas/documento/202 0-02/cr-JMPR-0006-18.pdf.
- Dávila, Patricia. 2023. 'La Guardia Nacional Se Aferra a La Sedena En Tanto Espera Órdenes Del Presidente'. *Proceso*, 15 July 2023. https://www.proceso.com.mx/nacional/2023/7/15/la-guardia-nacional-se-aferrala-sedena-en-tanto-espera-ordenes-del-presidente-310760.html.
- 'DD.HH. Personal Militar Procesado y Sentenciado 2023'. 2023. SEDENA. https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/797480/DD.HH._PERSONAL_ MILITAR_PROCESADO_Y_SENTENCIADO_2023.pdf.
- De Mauleón, Héctor. 2022. 'Ni Beatriz Gutiérrez Müller Se Salvó de Ser Espiada'. *El Universal*, 19 October 2022. https://www.eluniversal.com.mx/opinion/hector-de-mauleon/ni-beatriz-gutierrez-muller-se-salvo-de-ser-espiada.
- DECRETO Por El Que Se Reforman, Adicionan y Derogan Diversas Disposiciones de La Constitución Política de Los Estados Unidos Mexicanos, En Materia de Guardia Nacional. 2019.

https://dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5555126&fecha=26/03/2019#gsc.tab= 0.

Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman, Adicionan y Derogan Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley Orgánica de La Administración Pública Federal; de La Ley de La Guardia Nacional; de La Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos, y de La Ley de Ascensos y Recompensas Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos, En Materia de Guardia Nacional y Seguridad Pública. 2022. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5664065&fecha=09/09/2022&g sc.tab=0#gsc.tab=0.

Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman y Adicionan Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley Orgánica DelEjércitoyFuerzaAéreaMexicanos.2022.

https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5643305&fecha=18/02/2022#gs c.tab=0.

Diario Oficial de La Federación. 2020. 'ACUERDO Por El Que Se Dispone de La Fuerza Armada Permanente Para Llevar a Cabo Tareas de Seguridad Pública de Manera Extraordinaria, Regulada, Fiscalizada, Subordinada y Complementaria.', 11 May 2020.

https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5593105&fecha=11/05/2020#gs c.tab=0.

- Díez, Jordi. 2012. 'Civil-Military Relations in Mexico: The Unfinished Transition'. In *The Oxford Handbook on Mexican Politics*, 265–85. Oxford University Press.
- DOF. 2020. DECRETO Por El Que Se Adicionan Diversas Disposiciones a La Ley de Seguridad Nacional.

https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5608287&fecha=18/12/2020#gs c.tab=0.

- — . 2023a. DECRETO Por El Que La Construcción, Funcionamiento, Mantenimiento, Operación, Infraestructura, Los Espacios, Bienes de Interés Público, Ejecución y Administración de La Infraestructura de Transportes, de Servicios y Polos de Desarrollo Para El Bienestar y Equipo Tanto Del Tren Maya Como Del Corredor Interoceánico Del Istmo de Tehuantepec, Así Como Los Aeropuertos Que Se Indican, Son de Seguridad Nacional y de Interés Público. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5689265&fecha=18/05/2023#gs c.tab=0.
- — —. 2023b. ACUERDO Por El Que Se Agrupan al Sector Coordinado Por La Secretaría de Marina, Las Entidades Paraestatales Denominadas 'Grupo Aeroportuario de La Ciudad de México', S.A. de C.V.; 'Servicios Aeroportuarios de La Ciudad de México', S.A. de C.V., y 'Aeropuerto Internacional de La Ciudad de México', S.A. de C.V. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5697793&fecha=08/08/2023#gs c.tab=0.
- 'Ejército Espía: Centro PRODH Nuevamente Atacado Con Pegasus'. n.d. Ejército Espía. México: R3D. Accessed 8 August 2023. https://ejercitoespia.r3d.mx/.

- 'El Polémico Discurso de Luis Cresencio Sandoval'. 2021. *Noticias Con Ciro Gómez Leyva*. Imagen Noticias. https://youtu.be/m4Ydrg5SAoM.
- 'Emilio Álvarez Icaza (GP) Durante La Discusión de Ascensos En La Armada de México'. 2022. Senado de México. https://youtu.be/2gP-B2IfGpY.
- 'En Promoción de Militares Tiene Que Revisarse Su Récord de Derechos Humanos: Sen. Álvarez Icaza'. 15:15. Senado de México. https://youtu.be/VXD0d2E7tPI.
- *En Resistencia: La Defensa de La Vía Civil. Ponencia de Jorge Javier Romero Vadillo.* n.d. México: CIDE. Accessed 21 July 2023. https://www.facebook.com/watch/live/?ref=watch_permalink&v=24709307407226 7.
- 'Entrevista Con El General Salvador Cienfuegos, Titular de Sedena'. 2015. Televisa. https://youtu.be/E_LrccS50lQ.
- Forbes. 2020. 'Detención de Cienfuegos, Muestra de Descomposición Del Régimen Neoliberal: AMLO', 16 October 2020. https://www.forbes.com.mx/politicadetencion-de-cienfuegos-muestra-de-descomposicion-del-regimen-neoliberalamlo/.
- Gallegos, Zorayda. 2020. 'El Ejército Mexicano Desvió 156 Millones de Dólares a Empresas Fantasma Entre 2013 y 2019'. *El País*, 25 August 2020. https://elpais.com/mexico/2020-08-25/el-ejercito-mexicano-desvio-156-millones-de-dolares-a-empresas-fantasma-entre-2013-y-2019.html.
- García, Jacobo. 2022. 'El Jefe Del Ejército Reprocha a Quienes Critican a Las Fuerzas Armadas En Medio Del Debate Sobre La Militarización Del País'. *El País*, 14 September 2022. https://elpais.com/mexico/2022-09-14/el-jefe-del-ejercitoreprocha-a-quienes-critican-a-las-fuerzas-armadas-en-medio-del-debate-sobre-lamilitarizacion-del-pais.html.
- Garner, Paul. 2010. Porfirio Díaz: Del Héroe al Dictador. Una Biografía Política. México: Planeta.
- Garza, Antonio. 2006. 'APOCALYPSE NOT: AMLO ASSURES AMBASSADOR HE WILL HAVE A STRONG, SOUND ADMINISTRATION'. Diplomatic Cable 06MEXICO505_a. Mexico City: State Department. https://wikileaks.org/plusd/cables/06MEXICO505_a.html.
- Golden, Tim. 2022. 'The Cienfuegos Affair: Inside the Case That Upended the Drug War in Mexico'. *The New York Times*, 8 December 2022. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/12/08/magazine/mexico-general-cienfuegos.html.
- 'Graban a Guardias Nacionales Extorsionando a Un Delincuente | Noticias Con Ciro Gómez Leyva'. 2020. México: Imagen Televisión. https://youtu.be/C4GbtPiIKb0.

Guardia Nacional. 2022. 'Guardia Nacional Alcanza Un Estado de Fuerza de Casi 114 Mil Elementos', 20 January 2022. https://www.gob.mx/guardianacional/prensa/guardia-nacional-alcanza-unestado-de-fuerza-de-casi-114-mil-

elementos?idiom=es#:~:text=Al%20finalizar%20el%20a%C3%B1o%202021,GN)% 2C%20Luis%20Rodr%C3%ADguez%20Bucio.

- Hernández, Víctor. 2022. 'Desafíos a La Autonomía Operativa de La Armada de México'. Nexos, 22 November 2022. https://seguridad.nexos.com.mx/desafios-a-laautonomia-de-la-armada-de-mexico/.
- — . 2023. 'Derecho de La Seguridad Nacional: Apuntes Sobre La Guardia Nacional'. Nexos, 31 January 2023. https://seguridad.nexos.com.mx/derecho-de-la-seguridadnacional-apuntes-sobre-la-guardia-nacional/.
- Hope, Alejandro, and Jaime López. 2015. *La Mentada Estrategia: Dos Ensayos y Treinta y Nueve Preguntas Sobre Seguridad, Justicia, Violencia y Delito*. México: Senado de la República.
- INEGI. 2022. 'Censo Nacional de Seguridad Pública Estatal 2021'. México. https://www.inegi.org.mx/contenidos/programas/cnspe/2021/doc/cnspe_2021_res ultados.pdf.
- ———. 2023a. 'Defunciones Por Homicidio'. 2023. https://www.inegi.org.mx/sistemas/olap/proyectos/bd/continuas/mortalidad/def uncioneshom.asp?s=est.
- *Infobae*. 2021. 'Sorprende a AMLO Espionaje Del Cisen Tras Ganar La Presidencia En 2018: "No Conocía Estos Expedientes"', 23 July 2021. https://www.infobae.com/america/mexico/2021/07/23/sorprende-a-amloespionaje-del-cisen-tras-ganar-la-presidencia-en-2018-no-conocia-estosexpedientes/.
- Jackson, Richard, Eamon Murphy, and Scott Poynting, eds. 2009. *Contemporary State Terrorism : Theory and Practice*. London: Taylor & Francis Group.

- Kitroeff, Natalie, and Ronen Bergman. 2023. 'He Was Investigating Mexico's Military. Then the Spying Began.' *The New York Times*, 22 May 2023. https://www.nytimes.com/2023/05/22/world/americas/mexico-spying-pegasusisrael.html.
- *Latinus*. 2022a. 'Designan de Nuevo a Militar En Retiro al Frente de La AFAC: Miguel Vallín Osuna Ocupará La Dirección Tras La Salida de Carlos Rodríguez', 17 October 2022. https://latinus.us/2022/10/17/destituyen-carlos-rodriguez-munguiaafac-nombran-nuevo-director/.
- — . 2022b. 'Sandoval Canceló Reunión Sobre Hackeo Porque Diputado de MC Fue Irrespetuoso al Negarse a Que Fuera En La Sedena: Adán Augusto', 17 October 2022. https://latinus.us/2022/10/17/sandoval-cancelo-reunion-hackeo-diputadomc-fue-irrespetuoso-negarse-a-que-fuera-sedena/.

Ley de Seguridad Nacional. 2019.

- *Ley General de Transparencia y Acceso a La Información Pública*. n.d. Accessed 15 December 2022. https://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/LGTAIP_200521.pdf.
- Ley Orgánica Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea Mexicanos. n.d. Accessed 15 December 2022. https://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/LOEFAM.pdf.
- Liewen, Edwin. 1968. *Mexican Militarism: The Political Rise and Fall of the Revolutionary Army* 1910-1940. Westport: University of New Mexico Press.
- López Casarín, Javier Joaquín. 2023. *Iniciativa de Ley Federal de Ciberseguridad*. https://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/iniclave/65/CD-LXV-II-2P-292/02_iniciativa_292_25abr23.pdf.
- Loret de Mola, Carlos. 2023. 'El Tenso Encuentro Privado'. *El Universal*, 7 June 2023. https://www.eluniversal.com.mx/opinion/carlos-loret-de-mola/el-tensoencuentro-privado/.
- Madrazo, Alejandro, Rebeca Calzada, and Jorge Romero. 2018. 'La "guerra contra las drogas": Análisis de los combates de las fuerzas públicas 2006-2011'. *Política y Gobierno* XXV (2): 379–402.
- Mandolessi, Silvana, and Katia Olalde Rico. 2022. *Disappearances in Mexico: From the 'Dirty War' to the 'War on Drugs'*. 1st ed. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003169611.

- Manneto, Francesco. 2021. 'El Jefe de La Armada Se Suma a La Ofensiva Del Gobierno Mexicano Contra La Judicatura', 21 May 2021. https://elpais.com/mexico/elecciones-mexicanas/2021-05-22/el-jefe-de-la-armadaprofundiza-la-ofensiva-del-gobierno-mexicano-y-pone-en-entredicho-a-lajudicatura.html.
- McCormick, Gladys. 2017. 'The Last Door: Political Prisoners and the Use of Torture in Mexico's Dirty War'. *The Americas* 74 (1): 57–81. https://doi.org/10.1017/tam.2016.80.
- Milenio. 2018. '¿Por Qué AMLO Echó Para Atrás La Guardia Nacional?', 17 August 2018. https://www.milenio.com/politica/por-que-amlo-echo-para-atras-la-guardianacional.
- *Ministros 1917-1994 Semblanzas: Tomo I.* 2002. México: Suprema Corte de Justicia de la Nación. https://sistemabibliotecario.scjn.gob.mx/sisbib/CST/48169/48169_T_I.pdf.
- Minuta Con Proyecto de Decreto Que Reforma Diversas Disposiciones de La Ley de Seguridad Nacional. 2010. http://gaceta.diputados.gob.mx/Gaceta/61/2010/abr/20100428-I.html#Minutas.
- Observatorio de la Guardia Nacional. 2022. 'Informe 2021 Del Observatorio de La Guardia Nacional y La Militarización En México'. Causa en Común. http://causaencomun.org.mx/observatorioguardiayfuerzasarmadas/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/2022.01.25_InformeOGN_2021.pdf.
- Pacheco, Fernando Celaya. 2009. 'Narcofearance: How Has Narcoterrorism Settled in Mexico?' *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 32 (12): 1021–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10576100903319797.
- Padin, Juan Francisco. 2022. 'Opening Pandora's Box: The Case of Mexico and the Threshold of Non-International Armed Conflicts'. *International Review of the Red Cross*, September, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1816383122000571.
- Peralta, Montserrat. n.d. 'Tortura, Desaparición y Abusos: Denuncias Contra Fuerzas Armadas Se Triplicaron de 2018 a 2021'. *Latinus*. Accessed 3 June 2022. https://latinus.us/2022/03/13/tortura-desaparicion-y-abusos-denuncias-contrafuerzas-armadas-se-triplicaron-de-2018-a-2021/.
- Pérez Ricart, Carlos Alberto. 2021. 'La Guerra Contra Las Drogas En México No Empezó Ayer'. *Animal Político*, 30 April 2021. https://www.animalpolitico.com/bitacora-deviolencias/la-guerra-contra-las-drogas-en-mexico-no-empezo-ayer/.
- — . 2022. Cien Años de Espías y Drogas: La Historia de Los Agentes Antinarcóticos de Estados Unidos En México. México: Penguin Random House.
- 'Policías al Grito de Guerra: Ser Policía En Una Corporación Militar'. 2022. México: Causa en Común. https://causaencomun.org.mx/beta/wp-

content/uploads/2022/09/2022.09.27_Policias%20al%20grito%20de%20guerra_VF. pdf.

- Presidencia de la República. 2023. 'Presidente Designa a André Foullon al Frente de La Agencia Nacional de Aduanas de México'. 21 June 2023. https://www.gob.mx/presidencia/prensa/presidente-designa-a-andre-foullon-alfrente-de-la-agencia-nacional-de-aduanas-de-mexico.
- R3D. 2023. 'Estructura Secreta Del Ejército Espió Con Pegasus a Raymundo Ramos , Con Pleno Conocimiento de Secretario de La Defensa'. 7 March 2023. https://r3d.mx/2023/03/07/estructura-secreta-del-ejercito-espio-con-pegasus-araymundo-ramos-con-pleno-conocimiento-del-secretario-de-la-defensa/.
- 'Radilla-Pacheco vs. Mexico'. 2009. https://www.corteidh.or.cr/docs/casos/articulos/seriec_209_ing.pdf.
- Ramírez, Julio. 2018a. 'López Obrador "revive" La Idea de Conformar Una Guardia Nacional'. *Expansión*, 24 August 2018. https://politica.expansion.mx/presidencia/2018/08/24/lopez-obrador-revive-laidea-de-conformar-una-guardia-nacional.
- – . 2018b. 'López Obrador y Su Equipo Reviven (Otra Vez) a La Guardia Nacional'. *Expansión*, 9 November 2018. https://politica.expansion.mx/presidencia/2018/11/09/lopez-obrador-y-su-equiporeviven-a-la-guardia-nacional-otra-vez.
- Rath, Thomas G. 2013. *Myths of Demilitarization in Postrevolutionary Mexico, 1920-1960.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Rea, Daniela, and Pablo Ferri. 2019. *La Tropa: Por Qué Mata Un Soldado*. México: Penguin Random House.
- Reglamento General de Deberes Militares. 1937. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_to_imagen_fs.php?cod_diario=193039&pagina=3& seccion=1.
- Rodríguez, Gerardo. 2017. Seguridad Nacional En México y Sus Problemas Estructurales. Puebla: UDLAP.
- Rojo Fierro, Ana Gabriela. 2020. 'La guerra contra el narcotráfico en México ¿un conflicto armado no internacional no reconocido?' *Foro Internacional*, no. 4 (September): 1415–62. https://doi.org/10.24201/fi.v60i4.2628.
- Rosas, Cristina. 2011. La Seguridad Por Otros Medios. Evolución de La Agenda de Seguridad Internacional En El Siglo XXI: Lecciones Para México. México: UNAM.
- Schlarman, Joseph. 2012. *México Tierra de Volcanes*. Translated by Carlos De Maria y Campos. 21st ed. México: Porrúa.

'SCJN INVALIDA EL ACUERDO POR EL QUE EL EJECUTIVO FEDERAL EMITIÓ UNA DECLARATORIA DE INTERÉS PÚBLICO Y SEGURIDAD NACIONAL RESPECTO DE DIVERSOS PROYECTOS Y OBRAS'. 2023. Ciudad de México. https://www.internet2.scjn.gob.mx/red2/comunicados/noticia.asp?id=7359.

'SCJN INVALIDA EL TRASLADO DEL CONTROL OPERATIVO Y ADMINISTRATIVO DE LA GUARDIA NACIONAL A LA SECRETARÍA DE LA DEFENSA NACIONAL'. 2023. Mexico City. https://www.internet2.scjn.gob.mx/red2/comunicados/noticia.asp?id=7326.

Secretaría de Gobernación. 2014. *Constitución Política de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos*. https://www.dof.gob.mx/constitucion/marzo_2014_constitucion.pdf.

SEDENA. 2018. Manual de Organización y Funcionamiento de La Dirección General de Defensas https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/538441/Direcci_n_General_de_ Defensas Rurales.pdf.

SEMAR. 2022. 'Coordinadora General Del Ciberespacio'. 27 October 2022. https://www.gob.mx/semar/es/articulos/unidad-de-ciberseguridad-279197.

'Sen. Álvarez Icaza Pide Dar a Conocer Lista de Ascensos Del Ejército y de La Semar Para Su Estudio'. 2022. Senado de México. https://youtu.be/x8g5gIuGZwo.

- Senado de la República. 2018. 'Ratifican Nombramientos y Ascensos de Miembros Del Ejército y Fuerza Aérea'. 14 November 2018. http://comunicacion.senado.gob.mx/index.php/informacion/boletines/42709ratifican-nombramientos-y-ascensos-de-miembros-del-ejercito-y-fuerzaaerea.html.
- SHCP. 2022a. 'Proyecto de Presupuesto de Egresos de La Federación 2023: Analítico de Plazas y Remuneraciones. Ramo 7, Defensa Nacional.' México. https://www.ppef.hacienda.gob.mx/work/models/8uLX2rB7/PPEF2023/mo2h2PK /docs/07/r07_appcd.pdf.
- — . 2022b. 'Proyecto de Presupuesto de Egresos de La Federación 2023: Analítico de Plazas y Remuneraciones. Ramo 13, Marina.' México. https://www.ppef.hacienda.gob.mx/work/models/8uLX2rB7/PPEF2023/mo2h2PK /docs/13/r13_appcd.pdf.
- ---. n.d. 'Presupuesto de Egresos de La Federación 2022. Analítico de Plazas y Remuneraciones. Ramo 36: Seguridad y Protección Ciudadana'. Accessed 20 September 2022. https://www.ppef.hacienda.gob.mx/work/models/bzPX2qB5/PPEF2022/qgp8v2P M/docs/36/r36_appcd.pdf.

- Sin Embargo. 2016. 'El Ejército No Pidió Salir a Las Calles, Pero Los Gobiernos No Han Hecho Su Tarea: Cienfuegos', 8 December 2016. https://www.sinembargo.mx/08-12-2016/3123483.
- Sistema de Información Legislativa. 2023a. 'Perfil Del Legislador Benito Medina Herrera'. 2023.

http://sil.gobernacion.gob.mx/Librerias/pp_PerfilLegislador.php?Referencia=9222 164.

- ———. 2023b. 'Perfil Del Legislador Jaime Martínez López'. 2023. http://sil.gobernacion.gob.mx/Librerias/pp_PerfilLegislador.php?Referencia=9228 039#Comisiones.
- Smith, M. L. R., and Sophie Roberts. 2008. 'War in the Gray: Exploring the Concept of Dirty War'. Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 31 (5): 377–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/10576100801980492.
- Suprema Corte de Justicia de la Nación. 2022. 'Comunicado 2022/435: SCJN Valida El Acuerdo Por El Que Se Dispone de La Fuerza Armada Permanente Para Llevar a Cabo Tareas de Seguridad Pública Mientras Se Consolida La Guardia Nacional', 29 November 2022.

https://www.internet2.scjn.gob.mx/red2/comunicados/noticia.asp?id=7159.

- Teiner, David. 2022. 'Cartel-Related Violence in Mexico as Narco-Terrorism or Criminal Insurgency' 14 (4).
- Treviño, Javier, Raúl Bejarano, Laura Atuesta, and Sara Velázquez. 2022. La Letalidad Del Ejército Mexicano. Programa de Política de Drogas. Aguascalientes: CIDE. https://politicadedrogas.org/documentos/20220223_130037_ct39letalidaddelejerci tomex.pdf.
- UNAM. 2015. *Political Constitution of the United Mexican States*. https://www2.juridicas.unam.mx/constitucion-reordenadaconsolidada/en/vigente.
- *Univision.* 2016. 'Ordenan a Ejército Mexicano Entregar Las Imágenes Tomadas Por Un Militar Sobre El Caso Iguala', 26 June 2016. https://www.univision.com/noticias/caso-ayotzinapa/ordenan-a-ejercitomexicano-entregar-las-imagenes-tomadas-por-un-militar-sobre-el-caso-iguala.
- Velázquez, Sara, Estefanía Álvarez, Catalina Pérez, and Alejandro Madrazo. 2021. 'Inventario Nacional de Lo Militarizado'. CIDE. https://politicadedrogas.org/site/proyecto/id/27.html.